**RECEIVED**

**May 27 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Kershaw County

Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF JEREMIAH JAMES POUGH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-0548

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

GARY H JOHNSON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in admitting extensive testimony regarding appellant's compelled PPG test results to the jury since the use of PPG as a diagnostic tool to assert someone has paraphilic coercive disorder is neither standardized nor reliable as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and *State v. Council*<sup>1</sup>?

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 4, 2022, the Attorney General filed a petition seeking to involuntarily commit appellant pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVP). R. 1-87. A jury trial was held on November 13 – 16, 2023, before the Honorable Daniel Coble. R. 88. Assistant Attorney General Christopher Runyan represented the state. R. 88. Bradley Kirkland appeared on behalf of appellant. R. 88.

On November 16, 2023, the jury found appellant was a sexually violent predator under the SVPA. R. 590, 1. 5 – 591, 1. 12. Judge Coble ordered appellant be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 593, ll. 2 - 12.

This appeal followed. Following the Notice of Appeal, the state moved for a remand to Judge Coble for a written order on the admissibility of penile plethysmograph (PPG) testing performed by the state's expert, Dr. Emily Gottfried. The Court of Appeals granted the remand, and Judge Coble issued a written order on the PPG testing on May 31, 2024. Upon Respondent's motion to certify this matter from the Court of Appeals, this Court granted the motion. This Brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 10, 2021, appellant pled guilty to three offenses in a negotiated plea deal before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. Sentencing Sheets. As part of the negotiated plea, the state agreed on a sentence range of zero to ten years.<sup>2</sup> R. 624-625; 628-629; 632-633. Judge Hood sentenced appellant to ten years, with four years active time and five years of probation, served concurrently for three offenses: criminal sexual conduct with a minor (second degree) (victim C.P.); criminal sexual conduct (third degree) (victim A.M.); and criminal sexual conduct with a minor (second degree) (victim M.W.). R. 624-625; 628-629; 632-633. Prior to completion of the sentence, the state initiated proceedings against appellant under the Sexually Violent Predator Act.<sup>3</sup> SVP Petition. The lower court ordered appellant to be evaluated by the S.C. Department of Mental Health on June 22, 2022. Evaluation Order. Appellant was evaluated by Dr. Marie Gehle, who opined that appellant did not meet the SVP criteria. R. 419, ll. 13 - 15. The state then elected to have appellant evaluated by Dr. Emily Gottfried with the Medical University of South Carolina for a second opinion.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner’s guilty pleas included a sexual battery on an unconscious female who delayed reporting the incident for several months and indicated she had voluntarily gotten into appellant’s car and appellant had driven her to his home where the smoked “weed” and she passed out after which appellant sexually assaulted her. SVP Petition A.M. statement. In his interviews, appellant indicated he pled guilty to the offense because of deal prosecutors were offering, in essence a buy one get two free plea negotiation. R. 261, ll. 2 – 17. The evaluators presented differing opinions on the importance of this sexual assault as noted *infra*.

<sup>3</sup> Commitment under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30 (2012) requires a finding that the offender suffers from a “mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.” The Sexually Violent Predator Act was amended in 2023, but this matter was tried under the 2012 version of Act.

<sup>4</sup> The state’s use of MUSC for a second opinion fits a pattern. See Matter of Hyman, No. 2021-000734 (S.C. Ct. App. July 24, 2024)(involving Dr. Gehle and Dr. Gottfried); Matter of Gregg, No. 2019-001954 (S.C. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2022) (involving Dr. Gehle and Dr. Gottfried). In

The two experts agreed on several matters. Appellant completed a Static-99R risk assessment and Dr. Gottfried noted a score of 8 (on a -3 to 12 range) and a Static-2002R of 6 (on a -2 to 13 range), both of which placed appellant in the above average risk category for re-offending.<sup>5</sup> R. 295, l. 25 – 298, l. 24. This was an area of agreement with Dr. Gehle who obtained the same scores. R. 502, ll. 3 – 25. Both experts diagnosed appellant with cannabis use disorder. R. 410, ll. 19 – 24. The main points of departure between the two expert witnesses were the final diagnosis of paraphilic coercive disorder and the diagnostic value of PPG testing. As noted, Dr. Gottfried used the PPG results and determined appellant suffered from a “mental abnormality or personality disorder” within the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30. Dr. Gehle, absent the influence of the PPG test, found that appellant did not meet the diagnostic criteria of paraphilic coercive or any other mental abnormality that made it likely he would re-offend.

Dr. Gottfried performed a penile plethysmograph (PPG) test as part of her exam. For the jury, she relayed:

Mr. Pough demonstrated arousal to numerous trials across the PPG examination. He demonstrated arousal to the rape or sexual violence on every single trial given to him, I think with the exception of one. So that was about nine trials. He demonstrated clinically significant sexual arousal to rape which is consistent with his offenses. He also demonstrated arousal to consenting adults.

R. 279, ll. 6 – 12.

---

some cases, Dr. Gehle’s role has been played by other employees of the S.C. Department of Mental Health, but the pattern is the same. *See Matter of Daily*, No. 2022-000371 (S.C. Ct. App. June 12, 2024) (Dr. Christopher Gillen); *Matter of Williford*, No. 2021-000733 (S.C. Ct. App. July 24, 2024) (Dr. Rozanna Tross).

<sup>5</sup> For the Static-2002R test, the expected recidivism rate on a score of six was “approximately 34 percent.” R. 298, ll. 11 – 20. For a Static-99R score of 8, that expected recidivism rate was 50.3 percent. R. 297, ll. 13 – 22.

She elaborated further noting:

So his arousal to consenting adults was about equal to his arousal to rape. And then on one of the sets his arousal to consenting adults was greater. And then on the third set that we gave him his arousal to the rape trials were demonstrated a preference for the rape over the consenting adults.

R. 279, l. 22 – 280, l. 2.

Counsel for appellant filed a written motion *in limine* contesting the reliability of PPG testing under Rule 702, SCRE, and State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) (requiring a finding the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.). The trial judge conducted a hearing in which Dr. Gottfried testified and both sides presented argument over the reliability of PPG testing. R. 93, l. 9 – 210, l. 25.

Ultimately, the trial judge found that the PPG testing would assist the jury, that Dr. Gottfried was qualified as an expert on PPG, and that the underlying science was reliable. R. 203, l. 15 – 210, l. 10.<sup>6</sup> The trial judge also determined, under Rule 403, SCRE, that the probative value of the PPG testimony outweighed its prejudicial impact. R. 210, ll. 1 – 10. After opening instructions and statements from both parties, the state called Dr. Gottfried as its first witness and elicited extensive PPG related testimony. R. 235, ll. 15 – 20.

Dr. Gottfried related her opinion that appellant suffered from “paraphilic coercive disorder.” R. 284, ll. 10 – 23. She formed the opinion based upon:

So, Mr. Pough has been convicted of raping two teenage girls and molesting another. There's evidence that he was sexually aroused during these sexual encounters. There's evidence that once he became aware that the victims were distressed and not consenting

---

<sup>6</sup> On remand from the Court of Appeals, the trial judge signed a formal order outlining his verbal ruling. Order Allowing PPG Testimony.

that he did not stop those rapes. Also, his offenses occurred in a relatively short time period, so kind of one after another. He described having girlfriends at the time of these offenses, so that means that he offended even though he had purportedly a willing consenting sexual partner. *And then the results of the PPG examinations that I gave him demonstrated sexual arousal to rape and sexual violence.*

R. 287, ll. 7 – 18 (emphasis added).

In describing paraphilic coercive disorder, Dr. Gottfried testified that it involved “intense, preferential sexual arousal to sex with somebody who cannot consent, who is not consenting, but it more represents like the arousal to the power, to the control, to the non-consensual nature versus the -- the fact that they're having sex itself, itself.” R. 336, l. 25 – 337, l. 5. Dr. Gottfried also found appellant had “traits” of narcissistic personality disorder although he did not meet the criteria for a specific personality disorder diagnosis. R. 288, l. 22 – 291, l. 5. She further diagnosed him as having cannabis use disorder. R. 292, ll. 3 – 24.

The PPG test was sold to the jury as an objective test of male arousal. The state referred to the PPG results extensively in closing argument, noting:

The PPG is an objective measure of male sexual arousal. It's used across many different fields. I think Dr. Gottfried testified to using erectile dysfunction. I think she talked about heart issues. And she also talked about it's used in sexually violent predator treatment programs. And she talked about it being used as a diagnostic tool for a sexual arousal.

R. 531, ll. 3 – 10.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006).

However, the trial courts have

a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to ‘weight, not admissibility’ may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.

State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 689 (2009).

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in admitting extensive testimony regarding appellant's compelled PPG test results to the jury since the use of PPG as a diagnostic tool to assert someone has paraphilic coercive disorder is neither standardized nor reliable as required by Rule 702, SCRE, and *State v. Council*.<sup>7</sup>

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30 (2012), the state bears the burden to establish that appellant suffers from a “mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.” As noted, Dr. Gehle with the S.C. Department of Mental Health evaluation did not support a finding the appellant suffered from a mental abnormality or personality disorder. R. 416, ll. 13 – 22. Dr. Gottfried with MUSC related her opinion that appellant suffered from “paraphilic coercive disorder.” R. 284, ll. 10 – 23.

Paraphilic coercive disorder involves:

a pattern of deviant sexual interest that lasts over a period of six months. That's intense and preferential. So we -- so in looking at those paraphilic disorders in every case, and then the personality disorders, antisocial personality disorder, that has the most relationship with sexual offending in these cases. I consider other personality disorders. That's the one that I'm going to consider most highly.

R. 412, ll. 1 – 9.

The experts disagreed over the impact of some of the underlying criminal offenses regarding paraphilic coercive disorder, with Dr. Gehle expressing doubt that the nature of the

---

<sup>7</sup> *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999).

offenses themselves indicated an arousal caused by coercion rather than the sexual acts themselves.<sup>8</sup> R. 424, l. 11 – 425, l. 4.

In Dr. Gehle's opinion, the limited nature of information available regarding the underlying crimes as it related to appellant's sexual arousal made a paraphilic disorder diagnosis difficult:

So for -- for the diagnosis that I would consider in this case, the -- whether he is sexually aroused by non-consent and coercive acts with non-consenting person. It complicates things. Makes it, you know, sometimes impossible to make the conclusions because they really need to see what she did, what he did, like in reaction, what she did reaction, what he did reaction. So I need to see that interplay.

And that be documented because I need to see that the arousal was to the non-consent. Sometimes it's easier with -- when somebody is sexually aroused by coercive sexual acts with a non-consenting person, you'll see things like threats escalation in reaction to resistance. You'll see victims, you know, screaming, fighting and they have to overcome that. And they do anyways. So in this case, there's some indication that she was saying, no, we don't see what he did next. We don't see that full, like, documented interaction.

R. 423, l. 17 – 424, l. 9 (referencing the interaction with C.P.).

Gottfried and Gehle contrasted sharply regarding the use of PPG testing. Dr. Gehle testified that:

The problems are related to whether it's generally accepted in by psychologists who do this type of work. And the vast majority of them don't use this assessment in the sexually violent predator cases. Some do, but the vast majority do not use them. And then there's problems with the reliability and validity and standardization. So the test is not standardized.

---

<sup>8</sup> “So when -- when Mr. Pough gets resistance from her, then it stops. It's not -- it doesn't escalate. He's not attracted to that non-consent. He's not attracted to that, you know, coercion and taking and power over her in that way.” R. 432, ll. 9 – 15 (referencing the interaction with A.M.).

Each center gives it in different ways. Interprets the results in different ways, sets their cut scores in at different places. They can give a wide variety of stimulus sets. And so it's very difficult under those conditions when a test isn't standardized to look at the overall research body and say that this is a valid and reliable test that you give at your center, because those -- that research is relying on testing that could be had -- could have been done very differently than you give yours.

R. 417, l. 16 – 418, l. 6.

To establish coercive paraphilic disorder, Dr. Gottfried relied extensively on the results of the PPG administered by MUSC on appellant. The trial court erred in admitting this testimony due to its unreliability and lack of standardization for diagnosing coercive paraphilic disorders. Recently, the Court of Appeals issued a definitive ruling finding that since “PPG is not reliable, as required by Rule 702, we find the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the PPG test results.” Matter of Daily, No. 2022-000371 (S.C. Ct. App. June 12, 2024).

This case mirrors Daily in the manner in which it proceeded. Counsel for appellant filed a written motion *in limine* contesting the reliability of PPG testing under Rule 702, SCRE, and State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) (requiring a finding the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.). As in Daily, the trial judge conducted a hearing in which Dr. Gottfried testified and both sides presented argument over the reliability of PPG testing. Dr. Gottfried testimony including acknowledgements about the lack of standardization over the stimuli set used (Real Child Voices, the Marshall Set, and actual pornographic material) and the cut scores to indicate medically significant signs of arousal. R. 125, l. 1 – 127, l. 6. Dr. Gottfried acknowledged problems regarding lack of expected arousal response. R. 127, ll. 7 – 18. Dr. Gottfried acknowledged there were no studies on the efficacy of PPG for pre-commitment evaluations on those have coercive paraphilic disorder. R. 142, ll. 1 – 11. This is related to the fact that most of

the research related to PPG testing involves arousal to minor children and pedophilia. R. 142, 12 – 18. Dr. Gottfried acknowledged the problems with admission of PPG test results in court. R. 144, ll. 16 – 21. Dr. Gottfried noted that most SVP evaluators responding to surveys did not use the PPG. R. 164, l. 9 – 165, l. 1. Dr. Gottfried acknowledged there were no control group studies outside of pedophilia on the efficacy of PPG.<sup>9</sup> R. 166, l. 9 – 168, l. 2.

As in Daily, the trial judge found that the PPG testing would assist the jury, that Dr. Gottfried was qualified as an expert on PPG, and that the underlying science was reliable despite the admissions by Dr. Gottfried. R. 203, l. 15 – 210, l. 10. The trial judge also determined, under Rule 403, SCRE, that the probative value of the PPG testimony outweighed its prejudicial impact. R. 210, ll. 1 – 10. Immediately after this ruling, the state called Dr. Gottfried as its first witness and presented the PPG testimony to the jury.

In the press to obtain “justice” prosecutors have at times ignored admonitions from our appellate courts regarding improper evidence. This can be seen in the numerous cases regarding the use of a forensic interviewer or other expert to bolster and vouch for the testimony of a minor. As early as 2009, both the Court of Appeals and this Court provided ample warning that using such a witness to vouch for the veracity of the minor was improper. *See State v. Douglas*, 367 S.C. 498, 521, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (finding that the testimony of the forensic interviewer, including

---

<sup>9</sup> “In addition, phallometry is sometimes used to assess for sexual sadism (persistent and intense sexual arousal from causing or fantasizing about the physical or mental suffering of another person, with or without their consent). However, its clinical utility in this area of practice is controversial for two reasons. First, although the key features of sexual sadism are included in the current editions of the DSM and the ICD, some commentators regard sexual sadism as ‘an elusive concept to define and measure’. Second, the evidence base concerning the utility of phallometry for the identification of sexual sadism is limited, especially when considered next to the evidence concerning the identification of paedophilia.” Bickle A, et al. *International overview of phallometric testing for sexual offending behaviour and sexual risk*. BJPsych Int. 2021 Nov;18(4):E11. doi: 10.1192/bji.2021.17. PMID: 34747938; PMCID: PMC8554943.

explaining to the minor the need to tell the truth, was not improper bolstering). After Douglas, a clear statement by this Court on this type of testimony was provided: allowing an “expert to comment on the veracity of a child's accusations of sexual abuse is improper.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011). Despite these clear warnings about improper use of such bolstering testimony, prosecutors continued to use expert testimony to bolster and vouch for a minor’s credibility. See State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013) (holding that “even though experts are permitted to give an opinion, they may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others. It is undeniable that the primary purpose for calling a “forensic interviewer” as a witness is to lend credibility to the victim's allegations.”); State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 220, 776 S.E.2d 76, 80 (2015) (“The record in this case and in the child sex abuse cases that have come before us in recent years demonstrate that the common practice is to present the forensic interviewer to jurors as a ‘human lie-detector.’”); State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015) (noting an expert’s opinion that minor not be around the accused for any reason could only be interpreted as the expert believing and vouching for minor); State v. Makins, 433 S.C. 494, 505, 860 S.E.2d 666, 672 (2021) (“While we find no improper bolstering occurred in this case, we repeat our warning in *Anderson* about dual experts. Using one witness as both a characteristics expert and the treatment witness is a risky undertaking.”).

In the same manner, prosecutions under the SVP Act have followed a similar pattern. Despite numerous cases warning about the reliability of penile plethysmograph (PPG) testing, prosecutors have continued to bolster the opinion of their retained experts with use of and reliance upon PPG testing results. PPG was first mentioned by our appellate courts in In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002) (upholding

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