**RECEIVED**

**Apr 04 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000371

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT  
OF SHAWN TORLIF DAILY,

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Judge Kelly did not abuse his discretion in admitting evidence regarding a penile plethysmograph performed by the State's expert which she used in formulating her opinion, because the evidence established penile plethysmography is recognized and accepted in the field of sex offender evaluation and treatment as a reliable, objective measure of deviant sexual interests.**

Appellant contends Judge Kelly erred in admitting Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the PPG test conducted as part of her comprehensive psychosexual evaluation of Appellant's mental status and risk to reoffend, asserting there was no evidence the PPG test is reliable, and its admission was more prejudicial than probative. As support, Appellant primarily relies on dicta from In re Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020), while ignoring virtually undisputed evidence before Judge Kelly regarding the research and acceptance of the PPG test. He also presents an extremely truncated and misleading summation of Dr. Gottfried's testimony.<sup>1</sup>

In considering the admissibility of scientific evidence, the court looks at several factors, including: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813, 819 (2001). This type of evidence is also subject to attack for relevancy and prejudice, and once the evidence is admitted, the jury may give it such weight as it deems appropriate. Council, 515 S.E.2d at 517-518.

---

<sup>1</sup>Appellant repeatedly attempts to denigrate Dr. Gottfried's undisputed testimony by describing it as "vague" and "conclusory." These descriptions ignore the substance and context of her testimony in its entirety, which Judge Kelly clearly and properly did in reaching his decision. Dr. Gottfried's actual **extensive** pre-trial testimony is summarized above with direct citations to the testimony transcript.

### **A. PPG Testing Reliability**

In this case, Judge Kelly heard extensive testimony from Dr. Gottfried regarding PPG testing reliability, including current and on-going research, peer reviewed articles, and training on the operation of the PPG test system and interpretation of PPG test results.<sup>2</sup> Dr. Gottfried testified based on her first-hand training and experience, multiple research studies and publications regarding the reliability of the PPG test, the DSM-5 reference to the PPG test, and Dr. Gottfried's active participation in on-going national and international studies and scientific presentations regarding PPG testing in general and the RCV stimulus set in particular. She testified in depth regarding the SBCL protocols and quality control procedures used in every PPG test the lab conducts. She stated the PPG test research has been increasing, and a 2019 "best practices" book specifically about sexually violent predator evaluations includes a chapter discussing the utility of PPG testing in such evaluations.

Notwithstanding the Bilton dicta claiming near uniformity of other jurisdictions excluding the PPG test, courts have recognized the general acceptance and admissibility of the PPG test in sexually violent predator cases.<sup>3</sup> In In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wash. 2d, 132 P.3d 714 (2006), the Washington Supreme Court found PPG test results were admissible as part of the diagnostic process, and the PPG test testimony would assist the jury in understanding the expert's

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant's assertion that "esoteric" and "junk science" "are both accurate descriptions of PPG testing" ignores all the legitimate scientific research Dr. Gottfried cited that support the reliability and utility of PPG testing, as well as approval of the PPG test as a legitimate medical test by government agencies and insurance companies (discussed below).

<sup>3</sup>This includes South Carolina circuit courts. See In re Care and Treatment of Gregg, 2018-CP-10-03472 (Jefferson, J.)(*rev'd* August 10, 2022; Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed December 7, 2022); In re Care and Treatment of Williford, 2019-CP-04-01380 (Sprouse, J.) (appeal pending).; In re Care and Treatment of Hyman, 2020-CP-21-1045 (Henderson, J.) (appeal pending).

sexual deviancy diagnosis.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 719. The court further found the issue of the PPG test's reliability goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility.<sup>5</sup> *Id.*; *see also* In re Detention of Herrick, 198 Wash. App. 439, 393 P.3d 879, 885 (2017) (PPG testing may provide critical information to an evaluator in determining if alleged sexual predator has a mental abnormality, and PPG testing is an effective and generally accepted method for evaluating sex offenders).

The Illinois appellate court also found PPG test evidence was admissible in In re Commitment of Sandry, 367 Ill.App.3d 949, 858 N.E.2d 295 (2006). As to the admissibility of a particular test or methodology, the court stated: "once it is determined that a methodology is generally accepted, it follows that it has achieved a sufficient degree of reliability and validity to cross the threshold of admissibility." *Id.* at 309. The court then engaged in an exhaustive analysis of case law (use of PPG mentioned in at least 21 states, including South Carolina), statutes (eleven state statutes) and regulations. *Id.* at 310-313.

The Sandry court also discussed numerous academic articles, which it determined provided ample support "to conclude that PPG testing is accepted by a substantial number of experts in this field such that it may be used to support a qualitative assessment of the future dangerousness of an individual." *Id.* at 309-316 (emphasis added). Acknowledging some experts have criticized and

---

<sup>4</sup>Significantly, Washington's sexual predator statute expressly gives the courts the discretion to order the person to comply with a PPG test if requested by the evaluator. RCW §71.09.050(1). Thus, the Washington legislature recognized the PPG test is a valuable tool that should be available to evaluators if they believe it is necessary, and the Washington courts have found it to be reliable.

<sup>5</sup>The Bilton court dismissed Halgren as distinguishable because the Washington court found the PPG test was not novel and subject to the test for scientific evidence. This ignored the expressly stated reason for the Washington court's finding, which was that the PPG test had been analyzed in a previous case and found to be an effective method for assessing and treating sex offenders. 132 P.3d at 719.

rejected PPG testing, the court noted the existence of contrary authority is not dispositive because many people could disagree on the acceptance of any given methodology, but those who accept it may still constitute a significant subset of experts in any given field. *Id.* at 316; *see also State v. Graham*, 275 Kan. 176, 183, 61 P.3d 662, 667 (2003) (some disagreement in the scientific and medical community as to the reliability of a particular test method is a matter affecting the weight of such evidence and not its admissibility; such evidence is admissible if a qualified expert witness testifies the particular test method is reliable and accurate, and it is generally accepted as such by other experts in the field).

The Bilton court distinguished Sandry on the premise that “Illinois courts do not examine reliability before scientific evidence is admitted,” and did not even address all the case law and research articles discussed in Sandry. 432 S.E.2d at 446. As with its dismissal of Halgren, the court’s conclusion that Illinois courts do not examine reliability ignored a very significant part of the Sandry opinion, which analyzed Illinois case law expressly stating “[t]he determination of the reliability of an expert’s methodology is naturally subsumed by the inquiry into its general acceptance in the scientific community.” 857 N.E.2d at 308 (*quoting Donaldson v. Central Illinois Public Service Co.*, 767 N.E.2d 314 [2002])(emphasis added). Thus, in examining whether the PPG test is generally accepted in the scientific community, the Sandry court necessarily considered “reliability,” and its discussion of evidence indicating the PPG test is reliable and generally accepted is directly relevant here.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup>The Bilton court also cited a concurring opinion in United States v. Weber, 451 F.3d 552 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) for the proposition that the PPG test is “Orwellian when, **as here**, the State compels the subject to arouse himself sexually and then forces him to view deviant stimulants.” 851 S.E.2d at 444 (emphasis added). This statement is misleading. There was no evidence in Bilton, and there is no evidence in this case, that MUSC requires the person to “arouse himself sexually” before beginning the test. To the contrary, Dr. Gottfried expressly testified MUSC’s protocols do not include any masturbation requirement. (TT, p. 31; R., p. 27).

There is ample evidence the PPG test is widely researched and generally accepted. *See* Golde, J.A., et. al., Psychophysiological Assessment of Erectile Response and Its Suppression as a Function of Stimulus Media and Previous Experience with Plethysmography, *Journal of Sex Research*, 37(1), 53–59 (2000); Letourneau, E.J., A Comparison of Objective Measures of Sexual Arousal and Interest: Visual Reaction Time and Penile Plethysmography, *Sex Abuse* 14(3), 207-23 (July 2002); Kalmus, Beech, Forensic Assessment of Sexual Interest: A Review, *Aggression and Violent Behavior*. Vol. 10 Issue 2, pp. 193–217 (2005); Stinson, J.D., Becker, J.V., Assessing Sexual Deviance: A Comparison of Physiological, Historical, and Self-Report Measures. *J. Psychiatric Practice*, 14(6):379-88 (Nov. 2008); Howes, R.J., Measurement of Risk of Sexual Violence Through Phallometric Testing, *Leg Med (Tokyo)* 11 Suppl 1:S368-369 (April 2009); Marshall W. L., Phallometric Assessments of Sexual Interests: An Update, *Current Psychiatry Rep.* 16(1):428 (Jan. 2014); Burke, W. & Murphy L., International Collaboration: The Development of the Real Child Voices Stimulus Set, Keynote Address – International Academy of Sex Research Annual Meeting (July 2017); Plaud, J.J., The Use of Penile Plethysmography in SVP Assessment and Treatment Decision Making, *Sexually Violent Predators: A Clinical Science Handbook* 243-254 (O’Donohue & Bromberg (eds.) (2019); Gottfried, E., Use of Penile Plethysmography in Evaluations with Individuals Who Commit Sex Offenses, South Carolina Chapter of the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers Annual Conference Presentation (March 2019); McPhail, I.V., et al., Validity in Phallometric Testing for Sexual Interests in Children: A Meta-Analytic Review, *Assessment* 26(3) 535-552 (2019); Murphy, L., Bradford, J. M., & Fedoroff, J. P., Laboratory Measurement of Penile Response in the Assessment of Sexual Interest, *Sex Offenders: Identification, Risk Assessment, Treatment, and Legal Issues*, 159 (2021); Gottfried, E., et. al., Examining Relationships Between PPG Stimuli and a Visual Reaction Test

of Sexual Interest, 40<sup>th</sup> Annual Research and Treatment Conference of the Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers Presentation (September 2021).

The PPG test “is a widely recognized means of measuring male sexual arousal to given stimuli,” and “has become a standard objective measure of arousal and is considered by some researchers and clinicians to be essential in the assessment and treatment of male sex offenders and men with paraphilic interests.” Murphy, L., *et. al.*, Standardization of Penile Plethysmography in Assessment of Problematic Sexual Interests, J. Sex. Med. 12(9): 1853-1861 (2015); *see also* Murphy, L., *et. al.*, Assessment of Problematic Sexual Interests with the Penile Plethysmograph: an Overview of Assessment Laboratories, Current Psychiatry Reports 17(5):567 (2015) (PPG test “is an objective assessment of sexual arousal based on the change in penis circumference and volume due to increased vasocongestion in the penis”); Howes R. J. & Howes, S. E., Sexual Arousal as a Function of Stimulus Mode: Implications for Phallometric Assessment, J. Forensic Res. 8(6):398 (2017) (PPG test is “[p]erhaps the best means of objectively measuring deviant sexual interest”). While some controversy regarding PPG testing remains, as the Sandry court noted, the existence of contrary authority is not dispositive.<sup>7</sup>

In addition to numerous studies, articles and peer reviewed presentations indicating the PPG test is reliable and generally accepted, the PPG test has undergone Federal Drug Administration (FDA) review, and the FDA has approved several PPG systems, including the Limestone system used in this case.<sup>8</sup> In addition, the Medicaid/Medicare regulations provide

---

<sup>7</sup>Indeed, DNA evidence has been widely accepted for years, but its admission is still challenged. *See State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020) (evidence regarding “touch DNA” was inadmissible).

<sup>8</sup>*See* [https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh\\_docs/pdf5/K052929.pdf](https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf5/K052929.pdf) (501(k) Summary – Limestone Technologies, Inc.)

coverage for PPG tests.<sup>9</sup> Major insurance companies, such as Blue Cross Blue Shield, also recognize the PPG test as a medical procedure, and either provide limited coverage or exclude it from coverage.<sup>10</sup> The federal government's and insurance companies' recognition of the PPG test as a valid medical procedure amply demonstrates its general acceptance in the health care community.

As Dr. Gottfried testified, further evidence of the PPG test's general acceptance in the mental health community is the reference to it in the DSM-5, which provides:

Psychophysiological measures of sexual interest may sometimes be useful when an individual's history suggest the possible presence of pedophilic disorder but the individual denies strong or preferential attraction to children. **The most thoroughly researched and longest used of such measures is penile plethysmography**, although sensitivity and specificity of diagnosis may vary from one site to another.

DSM-5-R 699 (emphasis added). While previous DSM versions did not recognize the PPG test at all, by the time the DSM-5 was published in 2013, there was sufficient research indicating the PPG test's validity as a tool to measure an individual's sexual interest.<sup>11</sup>

In psychosexual behavior evaluations, the PPG test provides data useful in determining an individual's level of risk to commit acts of sexual aggression by measuring the extent to which the individual is dominated by sexual arousal to deviant stimuli, and predictions of risk to re-

---

<sup>9</sup>See Federal Register Volume 72, Number 61, Addendum III and Addendum V (Friday, March 30, 2007) (<https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2007-03-30/html/07-1414.htm>).

<sup>10</sup>The PPG test is not just utilized in psychosexual evaluations and/or treatment, but used in general medical health care as well. See Blue Cross Blue Shield of Texas, Treatment of Male Sexual Dysfunction, Special Comment on Contract Exclusions (January 7, 2003) (<https://www.bcbstx.com/provider/pdf/medicalpolicies/surgery/717-010.pdf>).

<sup>11</sup>Published in February 2022, the DSM-5-TR contains the same language on page 795, but adds that sites "frequently use different stimuli, procedures and scoring." As discussed above, however, the Limestone system used by MUSC has standardized protocols and procedures utilized in between fifty and one hundred labs across the country and internationally, and MUSC intentionally uses a cut score double the cut score recommended in the research literature to minimize the possibility of false positive results.

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